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Plaintiffs file this complaint against the state of Oregon by and through the Oregon 

Department of Human Services; its Director; and its Deputy Director; and allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Tonight, some of the most vulnerable children in the state of Oregon will sleep on 

temporary cots in state offices; in hotel rooms; in hospitals, despite being cleared for discharge; 

or in juvenile detention facilities, despite the absence of any criminal charge against them.  Some 

may have spent the day sitting in a DHS office, missing school.  These are children over whom 

the state has custody.  Some are as young as two years old; many are children with disabilities; 

all have experienced trauma.  The state has removed these children from their homes despite not 

having any home to move them to.  As experts in the field agree, the state’s practice of rendering 

foster children functionally homeless is unconscionable.  It is also unlawful.  

2. These locations at issue in this litigation are not ‘placements’ under any standard 

or norm in the realm of foster care.  Rather, the children sleeping on cots or in hotel rooms are 

‘unplaced.’1  DHS has functionally rendered children in its care homeless.   

3. As several state court judges recently articulated,2 the state’s failure to find 

appropriate foster homes has placed the children it is obligated to protect and care for in crisis.   

4. This practice is not, and should not become, the status quo in Oregon. Plaintiffs, a 

putative class of current and prospective Oregon foster children, bring this lawsuit to compel 

DHS to provide foster children in its custody appropriate placements in the most integrated, 

family-like setting possible. 

 

                                                 
1 Defined by the Merriam-Webster dictionary as “not placed:  not having a definite or 

assigned place.” 
   
2 See Nan Waller, Susie L. Norby, Ricardo J. Menchaca, Our Children Are Sleeping in 

State Offices, Oregonian, Aug. 18, 2016, available at 
http://www.oregonlive.com/opinion/index.ssf/2016/08/our_children_are_sleeping_in_s.html. 
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JURISDICTION, PARTIES, AND VENUE 

5. Plaintiffs A.R. and B.C.3 are, and at all times material to the dispute, were, minor 

citizens and residents of Multnomah County in the State of Oregon.  Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 

17(c), they are represented in this action by their guardian ad litem, Richard Vangelisti. 

6. On September 6, 2016, a Multnomah County Juvenile Court Referee appointed 

Mr. Vangelisti guardian ad litem for A.R. to investigate and determine whether A.R. has a viable 

action against the state for violation of her rights, to retain counsel to vindicate those rights if he 

concludes there is a viable action, and to act on behalf of the child in the subsequent litigation.  

This case is the subsequent litigation pursuant to that appointment order. 

7. On September 2, 2016, a Multnomah County juvenile court judge appointed Mr. 

Vangelisti guardian ad litem for B.C. to investigate and determine whether B.C. has a viable 

action against the state for violation of her rights, to retain counsel to vindicate those rights if he 

concludes there is a viable action, and to act on behalf of the child in the subsequent litigation.  

This case is the subsequent litigation pursuant to that appointment order. 

8. At all times material to the dispute, the Oregon Department of Human Services 

(“DHS”) was and is a department of the state of Oregon that provides foster care services to 

individuals across the state.  Defendant Clyde Saiki is DHS’ current Director, and defendant 

Reginald C. Richardson is DHS’ Deputy Director.  Saiki and Richardson are responsible for the 

actions, inactions, policies, patterns, customs and practices of DHS at issue in this lawsuit. 

                                                 
3 As minors, A.R. and B.C. will be referred to by their initials pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 

5.2(a)(3). 



  

 4- 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

 

9. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(3), as 

plaintiffs’ claims arise under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States 

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the federal Americans with Disabilities Act, and the federal Rehabilitation 

Act. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over plaintiffs’ other claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1367, because such claims are so related to plaintiffs’ federal claims that they form part of the 

same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. 

10. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because at least one defendant is a 

resident of this District, all defendants are residents of the state, and a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to this lawsuit occurred here. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Oregon must provide children in its custody with permanency and must meet their 
basic needs, including their mental health needs. 
 
11. DHS is responsible for receiving, screening, and assessing reports of child abuse 

and neglect, as well as for taking steps to secure the safety of children who are determined to be 

subject to abuse or neglect.   An assessment must be completed by a Child Protective Services 

worker (“CPS worker”) quickly after receipt of an abuse report by DHS.  

12. If the CPS worker determines in the course of the assessment that there is a 

“present danger safety threat,” the worker must take immediate steps to secure the child’s safety, 

up to and including removing the child from the home.  OAR 413-015-0435(1); OAR 413-015-

0115(33).  

13. The statutory basis that permits DHS to take a child into protective custody is 

broad. ORS 419B.150(1)(a) permits a variety of public officials, including an employee of DHS, 
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to take a child into protective custody, “[w]hen the child’s condition or surroundings reasonably 

appear to be such as to jeopardize the child’s welfare.” 

14. Once removed, the juvenile court must hold a shelter hearing within one business 

day, ORS 419B.183, and make findings and orders about the child, including whether to 

maintain the child in the temporary custody of DHS and whether the provision of reasonable 

services can prevent or eliminate the need to separate the family.  ORS 419B.185(1)(b). 

15. As with the expedited shelter hearing, throughout the dependency process there is 

an emphasis on both accuracy and speed, a legislative acknowledgment about the serious harm 

that uncertainty and delay causes children.4  The court must adjudicate the petition alleging that 

the child is within the juvenile court’s jurisdiction within 60 days, absent good cause, ORS 

419B.305, and if the child is made a ward and committed to DHS, periodic reviews and 

eventually a permanency review must be held.   

16. The dependency system in Oregon has been explained as a balance between 

sometimes competing interests, with rights vested in both the child and parent.  DHS has 

obligations to both. ORS 419B.090 provides that Oregon children “are individuals who have 

legal rights.” First among the enumerated rights is the right to “[p]ermanency with a safe 

family.” ORS 419B.090 (2)(A)(a). 

17. During the time a child is in the custody of DHS, he or she must be placed in the 

least restrictive, most family-like environment, consistent with the child’s needs.  See 42 U.S.C. 

§ 622(b)(8)(A)(iii); 42 U.S.C. § 675(5)(A). 

18. If a child is removed from his or her home, DHS is obligated to make diligent 

efforts to place the child with relatives or other adults who have a caregiving relationship to the 

child, and to place the child in the same home as his or her siblings.  ORS 419B.192(1), 
                                                 

4 The juvenile code defines “reasonable time” as “a period of time that is reasonable 
given a child or ward’s emotional and developmental needs and ability to form and maintain 
lasting attachments.” ORS 419A.004 (23).  
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419B.192(2).  If no such placement is available or viable, DHS may place the child with a 

certified non-relative foster home or, if necessary, congregate or group care or a residential 

treatment facility. 

19. DHS is obligated to find a safe and permanent home for each child in its custody, 

and each child is entitled to safety, stability, and well-being. ORS 419B.090 (3).    

20. The only statutorily recognized permanent plans are: return home; adoption; legal 

guardianship; placement with a fit and willing relative; and, only for wards 16 years of age or 

older, “another planned permanent living arrangement.” ORS 419B.476(5)(c)-(g). The last, 

referred to by the acronym APPLA, is highly disfavored, as is evidenced by its being available 

only for the oldest children.   

21. Children’s right to “permanency” is expressed as both a legal term of art and as an 

acknowledged and universally accepted child welfare practice. It is also expressed in the Oregon 

Foster Children’s Bill of Rights. “I HAVE THE RIGHT . . . TO HAVE WHAT EVERY CHILD 

NEEDS[,]” the Bill of Rights declares, including a “home where I am part of the family and am 

treated as such” and a “safe and appropriate sleeping arrangement . . .  .”5   

22. Most children in DHS’ custody are, by the very nature of their circumstances, 

already traumatized.   

23. Children with severe emotional, behavioral, developmental, and cognitive 

disabilities (“mental disabilities”), however, represent a large portion of those served by the 

foster care system. A recent analysis of children in foster care on Medicaid revealed that 49.4% 

had made claims to Medicaid for treatment of a mental illness.6  A study of Oregon and 

                                                 
5 Available at https://aix-xweb1p.state.or.us/es_xweb/DHSforms/Served/de9014a.pdf 

(caps in original). 
 
6 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration, U.S. Dep’t of Health and Hum. 

Servs., Diagnoses and Health Care Utilization of Children Who Are in Foster Care and Covered 
by  Medicaid, 5 available at https://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA13-4804/SMA13-
4804.pdf. This study also found nine percent of foster children had a developmental disability. 

 

https://aix-xweb1p.state.or.us/es_xweb/DHSforms/Served/de9014a.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA13-4804/SMA13-4804.pdf
https://store.samhsa.gov/shin/content/SMA13-4804/SMA13-4804.pdf
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Washington children leaving foster care showed 54.4% of them had symptoms of at least one 

mental disorder.7    

24. Accordingly, DHS must also plan for identifying the health needs, including the 

mental health needs, of children in its care.  42 U.S.C. § 622(b)(15)(i-vii). 
25. Children who enter into foster care and are not provided with appropriate shelter, 

mental health care, and trained foster parents able to meet their needs are more likely to have 

multiple placements, and to continue needing higher levels of care than their peers.   

B. Myriad failures in Oregon’s foster care system include the failure to adequately 
provide for foster children’s mental health needs. 

26. Recent audits and reports of Oregon’s Child Welfare Services have described 

several systemic conditions negatively affecting the agency’s ability to care for the children in its 

custody.  These issues include a very high rate of removal, frequent moves, poor data collection 

and management, disproportionate representation of children of color, and lack of adequate 

mental health services for foster children. 

27. As of 2011, Oregon placed children in foster care at twice the national rate.8  In 

2015, 11,238 children spent at least one day in foster care in Oregon.9   

28. In addition to being more likely to end up in foster care, children in DHS custody 

are also moved more frequently than children in foster care nationally.  Between April 1, 2014 to 

March 31, 2015, for example, Oregon had 6.31 moves per 1000 days of foster care.   This is 

almost 50% worse than the national standard of 4.2.  2016 Child and Family Services Review at 

                                                 
7 Pecora et al., Improving Family Foster Care: Findings from the Northwest Foster Care 

Alumni Study, 32 (2005) (“Improving Family Foster Care”), available at 
http://www.casey.org/media/AlumniStudies_NW_Report_FR.pdf.  

8 Kristian Foden-Vencil, Oregon’s Foster Care System Reacts to New Research, OPB, 
Aug. 15, 2011, Updated July 17, 2012, available at http://www.opb.org/news/article/oregons-
foster-care-system-reacts-new-research/. 

 
9 2015 Child Welfare Data Book, 2 (2016) (“2015 Child Welfare Data Book”), available 

at https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/CHILD-ABUSE/Documents/2015-cw-data-
book.pdf. 

 

http://www.casey.org/media/AlumniStudies_NW_Report_FR.pdf
http://www.opb.org/news/article/oregons-foster-care-system-reacts-new-research/
http://www.opb.org/news/article/oregons-foster-care-system-reacts-new-research/
https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/CHILD-ABUSE/Documents/2015-cw-data-book.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/CHILD-ABUSE/Documents/2015-cw-data-book.pdf
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16.  In 2015, 40% of Oregon’s foster children had more than two placements.  2015 Child 

Welfare Data Book at 17. 

29. DHS has long known about its poor record of placement instability for foster 

children in its care.  In 2011, DHS conducted a self-review and concluded that Oregon was 

seriously failing in its obligation to provide placement stability, primarily because of “limited 

capacity and limited access to specialized training for foster parents and relative caregivers.”10  

30. DHS admitted that the “specialized training” involved coordination with mental 

health resources and required planning “consistent with the child’s developmental and mental 

health needs.” Id.  

31. DHS also conceded that repeated placement moves “inflict emotional harm on 

foster children.” Id.   

32. Yet, the problem of placement insecurity persists.  According to the 2016 Child 

and Family Services Review,11 more than 11% of Oregon’s foster children went through six or 

more placements in the last year.   

33. Despite the dire conclusions of DHS’ 2011 report and intentions of self-reform, 

the permanency of foster care placements has “not improved over the past five years.” Id.  

34. Multiple placements and perceptions of placement insecurity by foster children 

lead to even more mental health concerns and predict more placement disruptions.   

35. Oregon’s foster care system also perpetuates racial disparities, according to 

independent observers.  A 2011 study found that at every stage of a child welfare case, children 

of color, particularly Native American / Alaskan Native children and African American children, 

                                                 
10 Oregon Dep’t of Human Servs., Sensitive Review Committee Report: Spring 2011 

Issues/Recommendations, at 5 available at https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/CHILD-
ABUSE/CIRT/src_report_5-11.pdf . 
 

11 Available at https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/Documents/cfsr-or-statewide-
assess-2016.pdf (“2016 Child and Family Services Review”) . 

 

https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/Documents/cfsr-or-statewide-assess-2016.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/CHILDREN/Documents/cfsr-or-statewide-assess-2016.pdf
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were represented at higher rates, or involved for longer, than the general population or white 

children.12   

36. Children of color are more likely to be the subject of reports to CPS, more likely 

to be removed, stayed in foster care longer, and were disproportionately represented in foster 

care.  Id.  “[C]hildren of color, to a greater extent than white children,” the study concluded, “are 

placed into foster care when, with the right supports, those children could instead be safely cared 

for by their own families and communities.”  Id. at 8. 

37. Ineffective data collection compounds existing problems at DHS.  A recent 

assessment by independent auditor Public Knowledge, LLC, found that “Oregon currently has a 

disjointed data enterprise for tracking information about child and youth maltreatment in foster 

care.  The current data system does not have advanced capabilities to share information, does not 

allow for trend identification, has limited quality assurance monitoring capabilities, and lacks an 

accountability system to ensure accurate safety determinations.  In the absence of trustworthy 

data and observable trends, single incident cases and anecdotal information are driving decision 

making.”13   

38. The many children with mental disabilities in Oregon’s foster care system lack 

access to appropriate outpatient and inpatient mental health care.  A recent report on conditions 

in DHS custody reported that placements for high-needs children were “shrinking,” specifically 

mentioning the “lack of psychiatric services, residential beds and crisis placements.”14   

39. A federal review in March 2016 found that DHS “struggled with accessing timely 

and quality Mental Health services for children for outpatient therapy” and “struggled with 
                                                 

12 Governor’s Task Force on Disproportionality in Child Welfare: Final Report, 4-5 
(2011), available at https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/DHSNEWS/CWIndependentReview/gov-
taskforce-report-3-11.pdf. 

13 See Public Knowledge, LLC, Child Safety in Substitute Care Independent Review: 
Comprehensive Assessment—Draft Findings 5 (2016), available at 
https://www.oregon.gov/DHS/DHSNEWS/CWIndependentReview/draft-findings.pdf. 

 
14 Id. at 29. 
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having an adequate supply of therapeutic outpatient and inpatient services for children.” The 

availability of private inpatient placements was “poor.”  2016 Child and Family Services Review 

at 22. 
40. Myriad other problems at DHS abound.  These include a failure to provide foster 

parents with adequate support; a failure to adequately train and financially compensate foster 

parents; and a failure to recruit foster parents, particularly those willing and able to care for 

children with mental disabilities. 

C. DHS has recently begun to ‘place’ foster children overnight in hotels, DHS offices, 
and in at least one instance, a juvenile detention facility, although the child was not 
charged with any delinquent act. 

41. This summer, professionals and volunteers involved with Oregon’s child welfare 

observed a trend they found disturbing.  Instead of placing foster children with a relative, in a 

community-based home, or in one of the other placements statutorily required as described 

above, DHS has been leaving children in its custody unplaced.  These unplaced children often 

spend their days in a DHS office, only to spend the night in a hotel with DHS caseworkers, or in 

a state office on a cot or aero-mattress. 

42. Both practices have accelerated over the summer and the early fall. The 

Washington County DHS branch recently converted part of a visitation center in the district 

office to accommodate children overnight.   

43. It appears DHS has even turned to juvenile detention facilities for unplaced foster 

children.  One child in state custody recently spent nearly a month in a juvenile detention facility 

in Deschutes County, without any pending criminal charge. 

44. DHS’ own data reflects that foster children’s hospital stays have been prolonged 

due to placement availability.   
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45. In Multnomah County, an infant in foster care remained in a hospital’s neonatal 

intensive care unit, despite being ready for discharge, because DHS had no secured an 

appropriate placement. 

46. Historically, there were rare occasions when Oregon foster children spent a night 

or two unplaced, in a hotel room or office, but un-placement has become prevalent in the last few 

months, and it is gaining momentum. 

47. In late July, DHS publicly stated that it was housing an average of six foster 

children per week in a hotel or office.  A “quick DHS survey” weeks earlier, however, found 

nine children unplaced in a single day.15  On another single day in August, Washington County’s 

DHS branch anticipated housing 6-8 children sleeping in its office.   

48. If a parent fails to provide adequate housing for her child, she might well be 

subject to DHS intervention in Oregon.  2015 Child Welfare Data Book, at 14 (citing 

“Inadequate Housing” as a basis for removal in 13% of cases).  But inadequate housing is 

precisely what DHS is providing unplaced children in its custody.   

49. To house and care for foster children in Oregon, people, agencies, and their 

homes must obtain certification from DHS.  See O.A.R. 413-200-0260 et seq. (setting forth 

prerequisites and responsibilities for certification).  Yet DHS is allowing unplaced children to 

sleep in presumably uncertified locations such as hotels and offices, and be supervised by 

individuals who may not be certified foster parents. 

                                                 
15 See Kristian Foden-Vencil, With Foster Care System ‘Crisis,’ Oregon Puts Kids In 

Hotel Rooms, OPB, July 6, 2016, updated July 7, 2016, available at 
http://www.opb.org/news/article/temporary-housing-for-foster-kids-in-crisis/. 
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50. In rendering children unplaced, DHS is not holding itself to the standards it 

imposes upon others caring for children. 

D. A strong majority of unplaced foster children are children with mental disabilities. 

51. Children with mental disabilities are far more likely to be unplaced than foster 

children without mental disabilities.   

52. DHS has numerous policies that contribute to placement instability and poor 

outcomes among children with mental disabilities, including a failure to assess the majority of 

children in its care in a timely manner for mental disabilities and a failure to provide adequate 

training and supports to foster families caring for children with these disabilities.  

53. More than 80% of judges and attorneys working in juvenile dependency reported 

seeing a child’s “placement exceeding the provider’s capacity.”  Child Safety in Substitute Care, 

at 31.  51% of foster parents reported receiving no training in dealing with high-needs children.  

Id. at 33.  

54. Moreover, many foster children with mental disabilities require outpatient and 

inpatient mental health care services to stabilize their conditions and render them more likely to 

succeed in a home-like environment.  As set forth above, the number of such psychiatric 

services, residential beds, and crisis placements in Oregon is shrinking.   

55. Without appropriate supports and services, foster children with mental disabilities 

are at higher risk of mental instability and behavioral issues likely to lead to placement failure, 

and further placement instability. 

56. DHS’ failures with regard to the identification, proper placement, and behavioral 

and support interventions for children with mental disabilities, in conjunction with the myriad 
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other failures some of which are set forth above, cumulatively cause many children with mental 

disabilities to experience greater instability in their foster placements, and to be subject to the 

‘unplacement’ at issue in this lawsuit.  

57. As a result, a strong majority of Oregon’s unplaced foster children – likely over 

75%, based on recent DHS data -- have some kind of emotional, behavioral, or cognitive 

impairment.  DHS itself describes such children as “Hard to Place[.]” 

E. DHS’ practice of unplacing children deviates from professional norms and causes 
emotional and psychological harm. 

58. DHS’ practice of rendering foster children unplaced, shuttled between a DHS 

office and a hotel or an office cot, is not part of any acceptable standard or norm in the realm of 

child welfare.  ‘Placement’ in hotels and offices or a juvenile detention facility does not provide 

for the basic needs of children removed from their home. 

59. Most children who are in dependency experience significant trauma, as well as 

emotional and psychological distress.  DHS’ practice of ‘placing’ such children in hotels, offices, 

hospitals and juvenile detention facilities creates serious emotional and psychological harm to 

already vulnerable children.  

60. Beyond the emotional and psychological risks of being unplaced is the danger of 

falling behind educationally. Oregon law recognizes the importance of education to a foster child 

and also understands that school stability is a major factor in achieving educational success. ORS 

419B.192(3)(c) requires DHS to consider when selecting a placement for a child “[t]he ability of 

the person being considered to meet the child or ward’s physical, emotional and educational 

needs, including the child or ward’s need to continue in the same school or educational 

placement.”  
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61. ORS 339.133(4)(A-B) allows the court to find it is the child’s best interest to 

remain in the same school despite being placed in foster care in a different district. ORS 

419B.343(4) requires that DHS’ case plan contain information about the child’s education, 

including the grade level of the child’s school performance, the child’s school record, whether 

the child’s placement takes into account proximity to the school in which the child is enrolled at 

the time of placement, among other things.   

62. ORS 419B.443 (1) (d) requires DHS to report to the juvenile court the number of 

school placements each child has had, the length of time the child has spent in each school, and 

the child’s progress toward graduation.  

63. In public statements, however, Dr. Richardson acknowledged that sometimes 

caseworkers do not have the resources to transport children who are staying in hotels or DHS 

offices to school.  Instead, those children remain in the DHS office during the day, while 

caseworkers attempt both to do their jobs and keep the children occupied.   

64. Classes began in most Oregon schools in August or on September 6, 2016.  

Unplaced foster children subject to the practices challenged by this lawsuit are at risk of missing 

school.   

65. For foster children, education can be a pillar of stability and a means to 

advancement.  Being unplaced, Oregon’s foster children risk losing both and falling behind. 

66. Dr. Richardson, currently responsible for DHS’ child welfare services, has stated 

publicly that DHS does not believe any child should stay in a hotel overnight, as opposed to an 

appropriate foster placement. 

67. The impacts of placement instability on children with disabilities is particularly 

acute. A recent study of outcomes among foster children discovered that impermancy in 

placement imposed serious risks of emotional harm and increased the risk of behavioral 
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problems for children with disabilities above and beyond the existing distress associated with 

their underlying illness.16  
68. By creating a system where children, particularly those with mental disabilities, 

are likely to bounce from placement to placement, DHS has inflicted emotional trauma on 

children and denied them the home environment to which they are entitled. 

F. The named plaintiffs in this action have experienced emotional and psychological 
harm from being unplaced. 

 
69. Plaintiff B.C. is a six-year-old child who has been in DHS’ custody since May 18, 

2016.  B.C. entered Oregon’s foster care system days after her mother assaulted her. B.C’s 

circumstances had been known to DHS since at least early 2013. Although B.C. was only placed 

in DHS custody in May of 2016, she had been the subject of 19 previous reports of child abuse 

or neglect, including one self-report by B.C.’s mother. 

70. Already upon first entering DHS’ custody, B.C. had severe mental health 

challenges.  She has been diagnosed with post-traumatic stress disorder, adjustment disorder with 

mixed disturbance of emotions and conduct, anxiety disorder, unspecified, disruptive behavior 

disorder and physical abuse of a child, victim.   

71. B.C. is substantially impaired in one or more major life activities, including 

communicating, caring for herself, concentrating, and thinking. 

72. Upon obtaining custody of B.C., DHS ‘placed’ B.C. in at least eight different 

places and with at least 20 caregivers in her first two months of custody.  

                                                 
16 Rubin et al., The Impact of Placement Stability on Behavioral Well-Being for Children 

in Foster Care, 119 Pediatrics 336 (Feb. 2007) available at 
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2693406/ (“[P]lacement experience is a 
significant contributor to a child’s risk for behavioral problems unrelated to the baseline 
problems a child had upon referral for placement.”).  
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73. Specifically, B.C. was placed in two relative foster homes and one non-relative 

foster home.  She was also housed for one or more nights in at least three different hotels with as 

many as 15 different caseworkers.  B.C. was also admitted at least once for an overnight stay in a 

hospital; and she had a ten-day stay in a children’s psychiatric ward. 

74. The instability of B.C.’s life and particularly her most recent experience of DHS 

placing her in eight different locations in two months has had, and continues to have, a seriously 

detrimental impact on her health and well-being.   

75. B.C.’s hospital discharge documents stated, “Everybody involved with [B.C.’s] 

case knows her behaviors are likely to improve once she is able to stably attach in a home with 

some permanence.”   

76. Plaintiff A.R. is a 4-year-old girl who was removed from her parents and 

committed to DHS in March, 2014, when she was 20-months-old and her brother 5-months-old. 

She and her brother were placed together in a foster home in April 2014, where she remained 

until August 16, 2016 and he still remains.     

77. A.R. has been diagnosed with adjustment disorder with mixed disturbance of 

emotions and conduct and mixed receptive-expressive language disorder, by history.   Her 

behavior can be impulsive and she is described as having melt-downs.   

78. A.R. is substantially impaired in one or more major life activities, including 

communicating, caring for herself, learning, concentrating, and thinking. 

79. In the few months preceding June of 2016, A.R.’s impulsivity increased.   
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80. She was described as having “very severe meltdowns” or “rages.” The foster 

family used respite care in an effort to maintain A.R. safely in her home, but eventually, A.R. 

was removed from her foster home.  

81. A non-relative foster home was located and A.R. stayed there ten days.   

82. Thereafter, A.R. was sent to a hotel with DHS staff.  She spent three nights in the 

hotel.   
83. As a result of DHS’ moving A.R. around, A.R. has experienced emotional and 

psychological harm.  A.R. needs a stable, safe placement with appropriate behavioral support. 

G. Plaintiffs attempted to resolve this matter without resort to litigation.  

84. Plaintiffs attempted to resolve this matter without resort to litigation. 

85. On August 16, 2016, plaintiffs’ counsel sent a letter to DHS expressing concern 

about the crisis of unplaced children spending their nights in hotels or offices, requesting further 

information about the practice, and proposing immediate steps to redress the practice.  Plaintiffs’ 

counsel emphasized the “great urgency” of the matter and proposed meeting to discuss possible 

solutions before August 25, 2016. 

86. A response from DHS Director Saiki prompted plaintiffs’ counsel to email him on 

August 19, 2016, again emphasizing the urgency of the matter, and offering to meet over the 

coming weekend and both before and after regular business hours. 

87. In response, on August 24, 2016, DHS representative and defendant Dr. 

Richardson proposed a meeting for the next day, which he then canceled without explanation a 

few hours before it was set to begin.   

88. Plaintiffs’ counsel sent DHS a second letter on August 29, 2016, providing notice 

of potential litigation.   
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89. Despite subsequent discussions with DHS’ counsel, the parties have been unable 

to resolve their dispute.   

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

 
90. Plaintiffs bring this suit on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, 

who (a) are or will be foster children in DHS’ custody, and (b) have been or are at risk of being 

unplaced.  

91. The class is so numerous that joinder of all of its members is impracticable.  

According to DHS’ most recent data, 11,238 children spent at least one day in some kind of 

foster care during the 2015 fiscal year.  Oregon foster children have been unplaced at least 63 

times in 2016, 60 of which occurred since June.  Many more – some of whom have not yet 

entered DHS custody – are at risk of being unplaced.  Accordingly, conservative estimate of the 

proposed class would include more than 100 individuals. 

92. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact 

affecting the class as a whole.  The questions of law and fact common to the class predominate 

over any questions affecting solely individual members of the action, and include: 

a. Whether defendants’ practice of leaving children unplaced described above 

violates plaintiffs’ rights to substantive due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution; 

b. Whether defendants’ practice of leaving children with disabilities unplaced 

described above violates plaintiffs’ rights under the Americans with Disabilities Act, the 

Rehabilitation Act, and ORS 659A.142; 

c. Whether plaintiffs and members of the class are entitled to declaratory relief; and 
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d. Whether plaintiffs and members of the class are entitled to injunctive relief. 

93. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the class.  Plaintiffs, like all other members of the 

class, are foster children involuntarily committed to state custody.  They have all been subjected 

to, and continue to risk being subjected to, the practice of unplacing children described above.  

Moreover, plaintiffs have mental disabilities that make them, in DHS’ words, “Hard to Place.” 

94. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.  Plaintiffs 

have retained counsel competent and experienced in class action litigation and the representation 

of foster children and of people with disabilities. 

95. This case is appropriate for class certification under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1) 

because prosecuting separate actions by or against individual foster children would create a risk 

of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual class members that would 

establish incompatible standards of conduct for defendants. 

96. This case is appropriate for class certification under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) 

because defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds that apply generally to the class – 

specifically, unplacing foster children –  so that final injunctive relief or corresponding 

declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the class as a whole.   

97. A class action is the appropriate and superior method for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy.  Prosecuting separate actions would create the risk of 

inconsistent or varying adjudications, establishing incompatible standards of conduct for 

defendants.  Allowing this lawsuit to proceed as a class action will permit the class of similarly 

situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously and 
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efficiently, and without the unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that numerous 

individual actions would entail. 

98. To the extent that any member of the class could afford individual litigation, it 

would be unduly burdensome to the judicial system.  Concentrating this litigation in one forum 

will promote judicial economy, consistency, and parity among the claims of individual members 

of the class. 

99. Plaintiffs know of no difficulty which would be encountered in the management 

of this litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution (Substantive Due Process)  

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

100. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

101. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides that “[n]o State 

shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”  U.S. 

Const. amend. XIV, § 1.   

102. Because plaintiffs are children involuntarily committed to DHS’ custody, 

plaintiffs and defendants have a “special relationship” pursuant to which defendants owe 

plaintiffs certain basic rights. 

103. Defendants owe plaintiffs, children in their care and custody, a duty: to meet their 

basic needs, including safety and care; and to provide adequate medical care, including mental 

health services.  
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104. Defendants must, under the Fourteenth Amendment, avoid taking action that will 

result in injury to plaintiffs’ psychological or emotional well-being. 

105. DHS’ practice of rendering children in its custody unplaced violates their 

substantive due process right to have their basic needs met, and to obtain adequate mental health 

services.  Plaintiffs’ basic needs cannot be met without appropriate sleeping and living 

arrangements, which DHS is not providing.  

106. Moreover, DHS’ practice of unplacing children poses an objectively substantial 

risk of emotional and psychological harm.   

107. Any reasonable official would be compelled to draw the inference of a substantial 

risk of emotional and psychological harm resulting from DHS’ practice of moving vulnerable 

foster children from one impermanent place to another. 

108. Defendants have long known of the substantial risk of serious harm from their 

unplacing practice.  Indeed, as early as 2011 DHS recognized the danger of placement 

instability.   
109. ‘Placing’ foster children overnight in hotels, offices not intended for human 

habitation, juvenile detention facilities without a delinquency charge, and hospitals despite 

readiness for discharge, is not an accepted statewide or national norm in the realm of foster care 

placements.  It is, in fact, directly contrary to accepted professional practices and standards.  And 

it is not part of the consensus in Oregon about how to treat foster children.  The practice 

challenged by this lawsuit is exactly the opposite of what foster children need, namely security 

and stability in placement. 

110. Unplacing children is such a substantial departure from accepted professional 

judgment, practice, or standards as to demonstrate that the person or people responsible actually 

did not base the decision on such a judgment. 
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111. Defendants’ above-described policies, practices and conduct are conscience-

shocking, in violation of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

112. Plaintiffs have suffered, will continue to suffer, or are in imminent danger of 

suffering, emotional and psychological injury from DHS’ violation of their substantive due 

process rights. 

113. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief, as set forth below. 

114. Plaintiffs are entitled to their reasonable costs and attorney fees on this claim 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

 
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12132  

115. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as 

though fully set forth herein. 

116. Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 

12131(2), prohibits discrimination against individuals with disabilities.   

117. Plaintiffs have behavioral, emotional and psychiatric impairments that qualify 

them as individuals with disabilities within the meaning of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12131(2).  

They meet the essential eligibility requirements for the receipt of foster care services provided by 

DHS. 

118. Defendants are public entities, or are public officials of a public entity, subject to 

the provisions of the ADA.  42 U.S.C. § 12131(1)(A).   

119. Title II of the ADA prohibits a public entity from excluding a person with a 

disability from participating in, or denying the benefits of, the goods, services, programs and 

activities of the entity or otherwise discriminating against a person on the basis of disability. 
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120. Under the regulations enforcing the ADA, the state may not “[p]rovide a qualified 

individual with a disability with an aid, benefit, or service that is not as effective in affording 

equal opportunity to obtain the same result, to gain the same benefit, or to reach the same level of 

achievement as that provided to others. . . .” 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(iii).   

121. Accordingly, DHS must provide children with disabilities an equal opportunity to 

access foster care services as it provides to children without disabilities in its custody.  

122. Moreover, defendants have an affirmative duty, to “make reasonable 

modifications in policies, practices, or procedures when the modifications are necessary to avoid 

discrimination on the basis of disability, unless the public entity can demonstrate that making the 

modifications would fundamentally alter the nature of the service, program, or activity.”  28 

C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7). 

123. As set forth above, the regulatory hallmark and guiding force of foster care 

service is the child’s placement in a safe, stable, least restrictive and most family-like 

environment possible.  

124. Children with mental disabilities in DHS’ custody, like plaintiffs, are receiving 

unlawfully inferior foster care services relative to their non-disabled peers when they are 

unplaced because of their mental disabilities.   
125. Foster children with mental disabilities often need additional mental health 

services to make them as able as their non-disabled peers to access a stable, family-like foster 

placement.  DHS itself recognizes that children with mental disabilities will often need more 

support to function in the challenging environment of foster care.   Statewide Assessment 

Instrument at 106 (describing “individualized behavior rehabilitation services plan for every 

child in a contracted BRS (Behavior Rehabilitation Services) substitute care placement”). 

126. In its own words, however, DHS deems children with mental disabilities “Hard to 

Place” and they comprise a strong majority of unplaced foster children.   
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127. Without the support and services they need to thrive in a stable, family-like foster 

placement, unplaced foster children with mental disabilities are technically receiving ‘foster care 

services,’ but not services as effective as those afforded non-disabled foster children.  28 C.F.R. 

§ 35.130(b)(1)(iii).   

128. These children have not been offered services “equally effective” at supplying the 

benefits of a functional foster care system, but have been knowingly denied the equal 

opportunity to have a real home instead of, for example, a hospital bed in a neonatal unit or a cot 

in an office. 

129. When DHS unplaces foster children with disabilities because their mental 

disabilities render them “Hard to Place[,]” DHS is depriving them a full and equal opportunity to 

benefit from the foster care system.  

130. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ violations of Title II of the ADA, 

plaintiffs have been or are at risk of being injured as set forth above and will continue to suffer 

injury until defendants are required to, and have, come into compliance with the requirements of 

the ADA. 

131. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief, as set forth below. 

132. Plaintiffs are entitled to their reasonable costs and attorney fees on this claim 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12133 and 42 U.S.C. § 12205. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of the Rehabilitation Act 

133. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as 

though fully set forth herein. 
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134. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §794, and the 

regulations promulgated thereunder, prohibit discrimination against people with disabilities by 

recipients of federal funding. Section 504 provides, in pertinent part, that no otherwise qualified 

handicapped individual…shall, solely by reason of his or her handicap, be excluded from the 

participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 

135. Defendants’ agency, DHS, receives federal financial assistance, and Defendants 

are thus subject to the provisions of the Rehabilitation Act. 

136. Plaintiffs are “otherwise qualified individuals with a disability” within the 

meaning of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794. 

137. By engaging in the conduct set forth above, defendants are discriminating against 

plaintiffs and other foster children with mental disabilities, under the Rehabilitation Act. 

138. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ violations of the Rehabilitation 

Act, plaintiffs and other foster children with mental disabilities have been or are in imminent 

danger of being injured as set forth above and will continue to suffer injury until defendants are 

required to, and have, come into compliance with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act. 

139. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief, as set forth below. 

140. Plaintiffs are entitled to their reasonable costs and attorney fees on this claim 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 794a(b). 

 
FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Violation of ORS 659A.142 

141. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as 

though fully set forth herein. 

142. Plaintiffs are qualified individuals with disabilities. 
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143. The Oregon civil rights statutes prohibit the state government from “exclud[ing] 

an individual from participation in or deny[ing] an individual the benefits of the services, 

programs or activities of state government or . . . mak[ing] any distinction, discrimination or 

restriction because the individual has a disability.”  ORS 659A.142(5)(a). That provision was 

intended to “ensure equal access to available services, programs and activities of state 

government.” ORS 659A.142(5)(b).  

144. Defendants systematically fail to provide adequate support to plaintiffs and other 

foster children with mental disabilities.  Defendants systematically place children with these 

challenges in hotel rooms or offices that are not appropriate placements for them.  

145. These children are disproportionately denied—by reason of their disability—the 

opportunity to benefit from a state program to provide safe, nurturing homes for children and 

from the mental health services offered by defendants.   

146. Further, Defendants, by their failure to provide appropriately for children with 

disabilities, deny them the “fullest possible participation in the social and economic life of the 

state” that they deserve. ORS 659A.103. 

147. By engaging in the conduct set forth above, defendants are discriminating against 

plaintiffs, as prohibited by ORS 659A.142. 

148. As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ violations of ORS 659A.142, 

plaintiffs have been or are in imminent danger of being injured as set forth above and will 

continue to suffer injury until defendants are required to, and have, come into compliance with 

the requirements of ORS 659A.142. 

149. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive and declaratory relief, as set forth below. 

150. Plaintiffs are entitled to their reasonable costs and attorney fees on this claim 

pursuant to ORS 659A.885(2). 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

151. Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all members of the proposed 

class, pray for: 

1. An order designating this action as a class action; 

2. A declaration that defendants’ acts and omissions violated and continue to violate the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution as to the class; 

3. A declaration that defendants’ acts and omissions violated and continue to violate the 

Americans with Disabilities Act, the Rehabilitation Act, and ORS 659A.142; 

4. An injunction requiring defendants to: 

a. stop housing foster children in temporary non-placement locations such as 

hotels, DHS offices, hospitals despite readiness for discharge, and juvenile 

detention facilities without criminal charge; and 

b. obtain appropriate foster placements for all foster children, in the least-

restrictive, most family-like, safe environment possible.  

5. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements incurred herein; 

6. Prejudgment interest; and 

7. Such other and further legal and equitable relief as this Court deems just and proper. 
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DATED this     27th    day of September, 2016. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
OREGON LAW CENTER 
 
/s/ Emily Teplin Fox    
     
Emily Teplin Fox, OSB No. 121720 
efox@oregonlawcenter.org 
Ryan Newby, OSB No. 114724 
rnewby@oregonlawcenter.org   
Ed Johnson, OSB No. 965737 
ejohnson@oregonlawcenter.org   
522 SW 5th Ave, Suite 812   
Portland, OR  97204    
(503) 473-8310  
 
YOUTH, RIGHTS & JUSTICE 
 
Angela Sherbo, OSB No. 824472 
Angela.S@youthrightsjustice.org 
1785 NE Sandy Blvd., Suite 300 
Portland, OR 97232 
(503) 232-2540 
 
Of Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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